ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

JAN 10 2013

Appeal from Newberry County

S.C. Supreme Court

The Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge
2000-CP-36-0051

STEPHEN ANDREW BECKHAM,

PETITIONER,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

PETITION FOR *WRIT OF CERTIORARI*

2011-204368

Diana L. Holt
Diana Holt, LLC
P.O. Box 6454
Columbia, South Carolina 29260
(803) 782-1663

E. Charles Grose, Jr.
The Grose Law Firm
404 Main Street
Greenwood, South Carolina 29646
(803) 992-3433

Counsel for Petitioner

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Did the PCR Court err by not applying the “implied bias” doctrine? Beckham presented evidence of repeated and substantial external contacts and invasions of privacy of the sequestered jurors who sat in judgment during his capital murder trial (PCR Grounds A through G)?
- II. Did the PCR Court err by not applying the *Remmer*¹ presumption of prejudice? Beckham presented evidence of repeated and substantial external contacts and invasions of privacy of the sequestered jurors who sat in judgment during his capital murder trial (PCR Grounds A through G)?
- III. Did the PCR Court err by not concluding that Beckham established prejudice? Beckham presented evidence of repeated and substantial external contacts and invasions of privacy of the sequestered jurors who sat in judgment during his capital murder trial (PCR Grounds A through G)?
- IV. Did the PCR Court err by allowing the State to question the jurors concerning their verdict, in violation of Rule 606(b), SCRE, about whether the external contacts and invasions of privacy affected their deliberations?
- V. Did the PCR Court err by denying Beckham’s motion for summary judgment when the undisputed evidence showed that juror John Grimes failed to properly disclose that, while he sat on Beckham’s capital murder trial, he was licensed by SLED as an armed security guard with the power to arrest, and, therefore, disqualified as a juror pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §14-7-820 (PCR Grounds I)?
- VI. After a full hearing on the merits, did the PCR Court err by denying Beckham’s motion for summary judgment when the undisputed evidence showed that juror John Grimes failed to disclose that, while he sat on Beckham’s capital murder trial, he was licensed by SLED as an armed security guard and, therefore, disqualified as a juror pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §14-7-820 (PCR Grounds I)?
- VII. Did the PCR Court err by not granting Beckham a new PCR hearing or even by simply reopening the record of the pending PCR so that Beckham could conduct additional discovery and present evidence about the SLED Jury Sequestration Manual, when the State possessed the manual during Beckham’s PCR hearing and willfully failed to disclose it during pre-trial discovery or during the hearing and post-hearing *de bene esse* depositions, in violation of the Rules of Civil Procedure?
- VIII. Did the PCR Court err by not applying a cumulative error analysis?

¹ *Remmer v. U.S.*, 347 U.S. 227 (1954) (“*Remmer I*”) and *Remmer v. U.S.*, 350 U.S. 377 (1956) (“*Remmer II*”).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State arrested the petitioner, Stephen Beckham, on July 15, 1995 for the death of his wife, Victoria Lander. On January 15, 1996, the Newberry County Grand Jury indicted him for murder, kidnapping, and conspiracy.

The State tried Beckham before the Honorable Henry Floyd and a jury. The State sought the death penalty. Jury selection began on September 16, 1996 in Oconee County, SC. The guilt or innocence phase of the trial was held from September 19 through October 1, 1996. The State adduced evidence that Beckham killed his estranged wife, with the assistance of a bouncer from a Myrtle Beach strip club, over a child custody dispute arising from a pending divorce action and due to significant debt. The State showed that Beckham frequented Smuggler's Show Girls ("Smuggler's"), which is a strip club in Myrtle Beach. The State introduced evidence it claimed proved that Beckham had cocaine and video poker habits, both of which could be easily satisfied at Smuggler's.

Through phone records and testimony of many SLED agents and witnesses associated with Smuggler's, the State presented evidence that it claimed showed that Beckham enlisted Smuggler's bouncer Richard Anderson to help kill his wife. Anderson testified that Beckham hired him to kill his wife and get rid of her body in such a way as to make it appear that she died in a car crash. The evidence showed that Anderson, in Beckham's presence according to Anderson, actually killed the victim with a large pipe wrench and that Anderson drove the victim's vehicle to a road in Little Mountain, SC. Once there, Anderson attempted to send the victim's car off the cliff side of the road to affect the staging of a car accident. Anderson's effort failed, however, and the car ended up against the inside of the road, instead of going over the cliff edge. To establish motive, the State submitted evidence of a life insurance policy on the

victim, for which Beckham was the beneficiary, and tax liens filed in excess of \$60,000 against Beckham. Additionally, the State adduced evidence that Beckham and the victim were embroiled in a divorce action, battling over which of the two parents would be primary custodian of the couple's three children. *State v. Beckham*, 334 S.C. 302, 513 S.E.2d 606 (1999).

Beckham denied that he killed the victim and, through testimony of alibi witnesses, demonstrated that he could not have killed her. Beckham showed Richard Anderson was telling the truth about killing the victim, but Anderson was lying about who was with him and Anderson's accomplice was actually an owner of Smuggler's, Michael Beatty, Jr., not Beckham. Anderson's motives for killing the victim were his own, and were not at the urging of Beckham. Under the now largely defunct third-party guilt rule, the trial court barred Beckham's counsel from introducing evidence, testimonial and physical, that he was not involved in the murder. Beckham otherwise strove to discredit the many witnesses of unsavory character, primarily strippers, bartenders, and jailhouse snitches, with impeachment evidence or evidence that these witnesses were threatened by law enforcement, and to show that law enforcement witnesses were biased against him for various reasons. *Id.*

The jury returned a verdict of guilty on all three counts. The sentencing phase of the trial began on October 4, 1996, and the jury recommended a sentence of life imprisonment for murder. Judge Floyd sentenced Beckham to life imprisonment as to murder, 30 years as to kidnapping, and 5 years as to criminal conspiracy. Beckham appealed. This Court affirmed the convictions on February 22, 1999. *State v. Beckham*, 334 S.C. 302, 513 S.E.2d 606 (1999).

Beckham filed an application for post-conviction relief on February 15, 2000. The Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, presiding by special order of this Court, convened an evidentiary hearing September 28-30, 2010, on Beckham's third amended PCR application. The

parties conducted depositions *de benne esse* of the Honorable Henry Floyd on October 28, 2010, former Eighth Judicial Circuit Solicitor W. Townes Jones, IV, on October 29, 2010, and attorney Jack Swerling on November 11, 2010.

Beckham presented evidence of external contacts and invasions of privacy of the sequestered jurors who sat in judgment during his capital murder trial (PCR Grounds A through G). On two separate occasions, one male juror's motel room was broken into and his belongings disrupted. SLED investigated the first break-in without ever informing the trial judge. The forelady of the jury investigated the second break-in and never reported her findings to Judge Floyd. On yet another occasion, someone broke into a female juror's motel room and stole a pair of her underwear and other under-garments. On yet another occasion, an intoxicated male entered the motel room occupied by one of the female jurors. SLED forcibly removed the intruder but never reported the incident to the trial court.

The impermissible contacts occurred when the jurors were away from the motel. While the jurors were eating breakfast one morning, someone penetrated the SLED guard and shouted "hung jury" at the jurors. SLED took the perpetrator into custody. SLED's report of the incident to the trial judge so sanitized the actual event, that Judge Floyd had no ideal whatsoever of the true events, by under-reported the number of jurors hearing the comment and failing to disclose that the perpetrator had been apprehended and hustled into a SLED car, all within hearing and sight of several jurors.

After completion of the PCR hearing and *de bene esse* depositions, Beckham uncovered evidence that, at the time of his trial, SLED had a jury sequestration manual. In addition to uncovering the existence of the manual, Beckham also uncovered evidence that the Attorney Generals Office possessed this manual during the PCR hearing and depositions but did not

disclose it to Beckham. This SLED manual is evidence of SLED both not following its own procedures and failing to maintain the records necessary for the courts to properly investigate the improper juror contacts. Beckham moved, twice, to re-open the record. The PCR Court denied these motions.

In addition, Beckham uncovered evidence that one of the jurors, John Grimes, was a licensed, armed security guard with arrest powers during the time he sat as a juror (PCR Ground I). Licensed security guards are not qualified to sit as jurors in South Carolina.

On September 7, 2011, Judge Goldsmith issued an order vacating the sentence for kidnapping and denying all other post-conviction relief claims (hereinafter “Order Denying PCR”). App. 3447. Beckham moved for a new trial and asked the PCR Court to reconsider pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP. App. 3515. Judge Goldsmith denied those motions. App. 3554.

Beckham timely filed a notice of appeal. App. 3558. This petition for writ of *certiorari* to review the order of the PCR Court follows.

REASON WHY THE WRIT SHOULD BE GRANTED

- I. Beckham presented evidence of external contacts and invasions of privacy of the sequestered jurors who sat in judgment during his capital murder trial (PCR Grounds A through G). The PCR Court erred as a matter of law by not applying the “implied bias” doctrine.**
- II. Beckham presented evidence of external contacts and invasions of privacy of the sequestered jurors who sat in judgment during his capital murder trial (PCR Grounds A through G). The PCR Court erred as a matter of law by not applying the *Remmer* presumption of prejudice.**
- III. Beckham presented evidence of external contacts and invasions of privacy of the sequestered jurors who sat in judgment during his capital murder trial (PCR Grounds A through G). The PCR Court erred by not concluding that Beckham established prejudice.**

Introduction.

It just goes to show you: no matter how revered and dedicated a criminal defendant's trial counsel are, no matter how forthcoming and upright a prosecutor is before and during trial, and no matter how highly vigilant and esteemed the presiding judge is, a trial can go irretrievably wrong when third-parties directly and indirectly violate the jury, and other officers of the Court disregard their orders and the law. Beckham was represented by two of the most experienced, capable, and sought after members of the South Carolina Bar. After extensive review during the pendency of this matter, Beckham found *zero* improprieties by the Solicitor who prosecuted this case at trial. The jurist who presided over Beckham's trial is so highly regarded that he has since been elevated to the Federal District Court and the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals on nomination of presidents of the United States from both political parties and with the advice and consent of the United States Senate. Yet, even the best defense counsel cannot effectively and zealously advocate on behalf of their client, the best prosecutor cannot effectively seek justice, and the best judge cannot protect a trial from fundamental constitutional fracture at its foundation, when significant injustice after significant injustice is so thoroughly and intentionally concealed from trial counsel, the prosecutor, and the trial judge.

The degree and breadth of the juror and jury misconduct that occurred during Beckham's trial is not only unprecedented in this state, it is unprecedented in this entire country. There is no reported case anywhere in which courts were presented a case where third-party contact permeated a jury such as the case this Court now has before it. It was open-season on jurors and their motel rooms. From the first day of trial and throughout the entire innocence phase, members of Beckham's jury suffered assault after assault at the hotel where they were sequestered. While all this turmoil and these home invasion-like attacks were happening over

and over again outside the courtroom, the jurors were listening to some of the most salacious testimony told by some of the most violent and scary people, strippers and drug dealers, all of whom were promiscuously and morally bankrupt.

The SLED team in charge of the jurors' safety went rogue on the trial court. They falsely reported accounts of problems to or intentionally concealed them from the trial court altogether. Jurors had such little faith in SLED's ability or desire to protect them that the jurors started taking matters into their own hands.

Try as they might to sweep it all under the rug, the truth has now been revealed. Beckham has no way now of knowing all of what the SLED sequestration team said to the jurors, and the SLED team made sure that the trial court and the parties would not find out the truth in time for the trial court and the parties to inquire. However, the truth is that all of these state action failures, breaches, and faults deprived Stephen Beckham's of his constitutional guarantees to a fair and unbiased tribunal and a full and fair trial, all in violation of the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments, Due Process of Law, and of rights guaranteed by South Carolina law, as to all questions presented.

A. Relevant Facts from Trial Record.

SLED presence permeated all aspects of the trial and the evidence. Captain Charlie Webber² maintained a high profile role in the case and trial. Capt. Webber's name is mentioned no fewer than 25 times.³ While many of these occurrences are without the presence of the jury, many of them delineate just how closely Capt. Webber was associated and involved with the

² Captain Webber passed away in January of 2003.

³ The Supplemental Appendix consists of the trial record on appeal ("Supp. App."). Supp. App. 168, 218, 876, 1113, 1136, 1456, 1461, 1569, 1943, 1944, 1946, 1948, 2257, 2326, 2860, 3593, 3615, 5435, 1137, 5730.

jury. The jury was first introduced to or made aware of Capt. Webber at the very beginning of jury selection, when the judge asked the venire-members to disclose whether or not any of them knew him. Supp. App. 168. He organized and supervised the transport of the jury from Oconee to Newberry County after the jury was selected. Well into the innocence phase of the trial, Capt. Webber organized and supervised the jury's trip to and viewing of the purported "crime scene." Supp. App. 2257, 2326. His presence was prominent and consistent. It was plainly evident to the jurors early on that Capt. Webber was not only in charge of the SLED agents who were in charge of them, the jurors, but that he also played a role in the underlying investigation. *Id.*

Other SLED Agents testified or had their roles in the investigation identified during testimony:

- David Warren Black, testified at length, over 150 pages worth, about the crime scene and SLED's investigation, generally, as well as his specific areas of expertise. Supp. App. 1543.
- Agent Black testified that he called two other SLED agents to assist him at the scene, who he referred to as Special Agent John Christie and Special Agent Wade Fleming. Supp. App. 1545. Agent Jolley was also at the scene. Supp. App. 1586. Agent Black gave detailed testimony about what he and his fellow agents did after they arrived at the crime scene where the victim was located, including testimony about demonstrative evidence, such as photographs. Supp. App. 1546-1566.
- Agent Black testified about other SLED Agents who were also involved with the case along the way. SLED Capt. Webber also went to the site to where the victim's vehicle was towed for processing, as did SLED Major Danny Gilliam. Capt. Webber and Gilliam are not two SLED agents who come out to just any murder scene. Supp. App. 1569.
- Agent Black also testified about SLED Agents Barron and Skraba, who were the forensic scientists who processed the evidence concerning serological and DNA testing. Supp. App. 1568.
- Agent Black testified that he and other SLED agents were responsible for processing the Beckham's home and yard in search of evidence, to which the Beckham consented. Supp. App. 1571-75.

- SLED Agents even attended the autopsy to process substances on the body and collect additional evidence before it was further disturbed by the autopsy process. Supp. App. 1581.
- Agent Black testified that, in June 1995, a year later, SLED Agents McCraw, Fleming, Gilliam, and Stephens notified him that they had located another vehicle for processing in the case.
- SLED Agent Christie is said to have been the person who double-checked Agent Black's fingerprint comparisons. Supp. App. 1749.
- Several SLED Agents testified to narrow issues. SLED agent Nancy Skraba testified concerning her forensic work on the case, having been qualified as an expert in the field of serology. Supp. App. 1761-91.
- SLED Agent Wade Fleming testified about reexamination of fingerprints that had been wrongly assessed by Agent Black (Supp. App. 3524-68), as did SLED Agent Jim Springs. Supp. App. 3571-2610.

SLED Agent Spike McCraw's participation in the case was so interwoven with the sorted and tawdry parade of Smuggler's witnesses that one of the Smuggler's strippers referred to Agent McGraw by the endearing nickname "Spike Dog." His testimony about his work on the case is extensive as his involvement with the preparation of the Smuggler's murderous Mr. Anderson and the rest of the drug dealers, drug users and lap dancers.

Richard Anderson testified extensively about killing the victim, other acts of violence, and occasions that he lied to authorities. His 200+ pages of testimony are littered with such matters. Time after time during his testimony, Anderson invoked the names of SLED agents he worked with, many of whom he referred to familiarly by first names, though the state and Anderson took pains to make sure the jury knew Anderson was referring to SLED agents in his testimony. Supp. App. 1958-2056.

Bert Shawn Gehm had been a DJ at Smuggler's Show Girls since at least 1986. He had known Anderson since he became a bouncer at the strip club. Supp. App. 2693-96. Gehm claimed Beckham was a "regular customer" in 1990 and 1991. Gehm said he and Beckham were

friends only by virtue of Beckham frequenting the strip club. In 1994, Gehm claims, for the first time, that he saw Beckham outside of the club and that he wanted Gehm to make contact with another Smuggler's patron, "Slick Rick." Supp. App. 2699. On another occasion Beckham mentioned a "King Richard," which was an alias for confessed murderer Richard Anderson. Supp. App. 2696, 2699, and 2702. Anderson was a large, intimidating force, and he was violent and would eject rowdy customers by throwing them head first through the door. Supp. App. 2736-40. All the Smugglers employees are "one big happy family." Supp. App. 2745. Many different SLED agents and other police officers interviewed Gehm on numerous occasions. Supp. App. 2713.

Stripper Tammy McKinney has bounced from strip club to strip club throughout her life. Supp. App. 2792-93. McKinney indicated that while she recognized Beckham, she had had no professional dealings with him and had not spoken with him at the club. Supp. App. 2794. McKinney testified about living with Richard Anderson, the man who murdered the victim, from March of 1990 and through early summer of 1994 [sic]. Supp. App. 2794. She worked as a dancer and stripper at Smuggler's all that time. *Id.* After she read a news article about victim's murder a day or two after it happened, she asked her boyfriend, Anderson, if he killed the victim. Supp. App. 2925. McKinney knew Anderson left Illinois, where he had worked before landing at Smuggler's, because he killed a patron by throwing him out of a club head first through the glass door. Supp. App. 2813. She knew that Richard Anderson murdered Victoria Beckham within two days of him having done it.

McKinney's interaction with SLED is particularly troubling. She arrived in SC for Beckham's trial on September 18, 1996. McKinney testified that "Spike Dog" arranged for her and Anderson, who she still loved and considered her boyfriend, to have a "contact visit" at the

jail a few days before her testimony. Supp. App. 2809-10. She repeatedly referred to her interactions with “Spike Dog.” Supp. App. 2711, 2809, 2810, and 2834. “Spike Dog,” of course, is SLED Special Agent Spike McCraw. He testified shortly after McKinney. Supp. App. 2834. SLED threatened to charge McKinney with accessory after the fact of murder if she did not cooperate. Supp. App. 2816.

Sole Juror Incident on the Record.

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