STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

JUN 27 2013

S.C. Supreme Court

Appeal from Newberry County
Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Judge

Case No: 2000-CP-36-0051
Appellate Case No. 2011-204368

STEPHEN ANDREW BECKHAM, 236548,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SALLEY W. ELLIOTT
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No: 1871

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

In the present case, it is clear that Grimes is and was at the time of Petitioner's trial a private security guard with the power to arrest but that power is limited to the property on which he is employed, and that his arrest powers are consistent with and limited by § 40-18-110. At the time of Petitioner's trial, this issue would have been governed by §40-17-20, et seq (repealed in 2000). Sections 40-17-20 through 40-17-130 essentially empowered private security guards to affect an arrest, as a public law enforcement official could, and nothing more - but only on the property he is hired to protect. See Chiles v. Crooks, 708 F.Supp. 127 (D.S.C. 1989); S.C. Code Ann. §40-17-20, et. seq. Section 40-18-110, the statute granting Grimes' the limited authority to arrest only on the property of his employer, did not empower Grimes to do anything more: he did not have any investigative authority, did not have the authority to affect an arrest once he stepped off of the property of his employer, could not engage in hot pursuit or illuminate blue lights off of his employer's property, did not have to take an oath, and was not empowered to enforce the criminal laws of the State. See Chiles, 708 F.Supp. at 131-32. Unlike the situation in Cooper and other authority relied upon by Petitioner, Grimes did not have any and all powers of a deputy sheriff on the property of his employer – only the power to arrest, and only on the private property of his employer. A security guard who is granted the powers of a sheriff's deputy to arrest on the property on which he is employed, pursuant to §40-17-130 (the statute that applied at the time of Petitioner's trial) and or to the current statute §40-18-110, is only required to complete twelve hours of training by a certified security guard trainer. To have any other authority or power to perform any function of a sheriff's deputy beyond the power to arrest on the employer's property, the individual would have to go through police academy training and would have to be a bonafide police officer. In essence, Grimes could not perform any other functions of a sheriff's deputy when his power and authority is limited to that granted in §40-18-

110 and where he did not have any of the requisite training necessary to be able to perform any other function of a sheriff's deputy.

Thus, Grimes is clearly not the "functional or legal equivalent" of a sheriff or deputy sheriff where the **only** function akin to the functions of a deputy sheriff that Grimes had was the power to arrest and even that function was limited to the property of his employer, and nothing more. Grimes did not have any law enforcement authority when he stepped off the property of his private employer, and the only law enforcement authority Grimes conceivably had at the time of the Applicant's trial was limited to the 1) power of arrest, and limited to 2) only the property of his employer. Thus, he was not disqualified from jury service under §14-7-820.

D. Petitioner is not entitled to automatic disqualification under §14-7-820.

Petitioner alleges that he should be granted a new trial because juror Grimes should have been automatically disqualified from the jury. This is inaccurate. Disqualification under S.C. Code Ann. §14-7-820 is at the court's discretion. The statute states that "that no person may be disqualified under this section except as determined by the court." S.C. Code Ann. §14-7-820. "The qualification of a juror is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be disturbed unless wholly unsupported by the evidence." State v. Matthews, 291 S.C. 339, 343, 353 S.E.2d 444, 447 (1986) (citing State v. Gilbert, 277 S.C. 368, 287 S.E.2d 488 (1982)). Therefore, the issue Petitioner presents is not cognizable for PCR because the time for ruling on the disqualification rested with the trial judge. Simmons v State, 264 S.C. 417, 215 S.E.2d 883 (1974).

E. Petitioner failed to prove that juror Grimes was prejudiced.

Case law establishes that disqualification is not automatic but rests on whether the objecting party proves *individual bias or prejudice*. Matthews at 343, 353 S.E.2d at 447 ("Even a special

deputy sheriff is not automatically disqualified without a showing of bias or prejudice.”) (citing Bryant v. State, 264 S.C. 257, 158, 213 S.E.2d 451, 452 (1975)); State v. Hess, 279 S.C. 14, 301 S.E.2d 547 (1983). This Court focused on the actual position of the jurors, not just the job title. In Bryant, the title ‘special deputy sheriff’ would seem to indicate that the juror should have been excluded as in Johnson. Yet, he was not, because that juror’s job (to serve process) was not one that created any sort of bias towards defendants in a criminal trial. All of Petitioner’s arguments address security guards in general, not Grimes and his duties. Petitioner wholly failed to prove that juror Grimes was biased or prejudiced. In fact, juror Grimes’ testimony clearly illustrates the *lack* of contact he had with law enforcement and the court system:

- Grimes testified at the PCR hearing that he had worked as a security guard for thirty-two years. App. 1511.
- Grimes testified at the PCR hearing that he had never arrested anyone. App. 1530.
- Grimes did not believe his SLED card was anything but a license to carry a firearm card. App. 1512 (Referring to the SLED card as “a card that I have to carry while I’m carrying a firearm.”)
- Grimes testified at the PCR hearing that he was not a deputy sheriff, nor an auxiliary deputy sheriff. App. 1514.
- Lt. Ben Moore, the officer in charge of licensing security guards, testified that security guards cannot prosecute arrests in magistrate’s court, and they cannot even transport a criminal off their property to jail. App. 2081-87⁴.
- Lt. Moore testified that security guards are *not law enforcement officers*; in fact, they can be prosecuted for impersonating a law enforcement officer. App. 2079-80.

⁴ The cases that Petitioner cites to show that security guards may prosecute misdemeanors are based on a specific legislative delegation of that authority in S.C. Code Ann. 40-17-130 (1986). (Cert. Pet. 40-41.) That statute was repealed in 2000 and security guards can no longer prosecute misdemeanors. This is why Lt. Moore stated that security guards have no power to prosecute in magistrate’s court.

Juror Grimes' testimony clearly demonstrates he had no personal bias and his duties do not bring him into contact with the court system. The trial court also specifically inquired about impartiality. Supp. 173-74; 1068-80. Thus, the PCR court properly denied Petitioner relief under S.C. Code Ann. §14-7-820.

F. Petitioner fails to show the statute should extend to security guards

In the Petition, Petitioner presents no reason that Grimes should have been excluded other than a conclusory statement that Grimes is a "law enforcement officer." (Cert. Pet. 41.) This is not true: Lt. Moore clearly stated that security guards were *not* law enforcement officers. App. 2079-80. Petitioner presents no compelling reason to extend the scope of this statute to include security officers. Respondent asks that this Court deny certiorari.

IV

Did the PCR Court err in denying Petitioner's motion to reopen the record for additional discovery and litigation when the document upon which he relied to make the request was something known by his attorney prior to the conclusion of discovery and the PCR hearing and when Petitioner failed to show that reopening the record for the purpose sought would make a difference in the outcome of the case? (Petitioner's Argument VII.)

Petitioner asserts the post-conviction relief court erred in denying two requests to reopen the record in this case to allow additional discovery and to present additional testimony and in denying his later motion for a new trial on the same grounds. Respondent submits Petitioner failed to show error in the post-conviction relief court's rulings denying the two motions to reopen the record or the motion to reconsider the rulings at which point Petitioner also requested a new trial. Petitioner failed to prove abuse of discretion, and failed to provide any relevant legal authority in support of his argument. Nevertheless, Petitioner failed to establish the requisite prejudice from the PCR court's ruling and the petition must be denied.

Factual Background

On January 10, 2011 and subsequent to the evidentiary hearing but before the post-conviction relief court's ruling on his application for post-conviction relief, Petitioner moved to reopen the record in this case and for the court to order SLED to produce a 1996 Jury Sequestration Manual. Counsel for Petitioner attached a 2000 Jury Sequestration Manual that counsel had in his possession since 2007 to the motion as the basis for the request. App. 3114. He argued that SLED published a first edition of a jury sequestration manual several months before his trial and the manual was not provided to him in discovery of the SLED file concerning his trial. On February 11, 2011, Respondent opposed the motion contending Petitioner failed to make a proper showing to reopen the record because Petitioner's counsel had knowledge and possession of the 2000 Jury Sequestration Manual since 2007. Respondent also opposed the motion because the 2000 Jury Sequestration Manual would not make a difference in the outcome of the case as it was expressly intended as instructional information and guide, was not mandatory, and made clear that the presiding judge would exercise his discretion to provide the instructions and orders he deemed appropriate respecting jury sequestration which may or may not comport with the contents of the document upon which Petitioner was relying to support the request to reopen the record. App. 3160 - 61. Petitioner indicates that he then submitted a request to SLED pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act for a 1996 SLED Sequestration Manual referenced in the document in Petitioner's possession. The letter making the request as it appears in the Appendix is dated February 16, 2011 and not February 22, as asserted by Petitioner. App. 3234. On February 23, 2011 and out of an abundance of caution, Respondent supplemented its response to the motion to reopen and attached documents it received from the

trial judge, the Honorable Henry Floyd, shortly before the hearing. App. 3167. The PCR Court issued an order denying Petitioner's motion to reopen the record, stating that "Discovery has been ongoing for almost 11 years" and that "[d]iscovery and litigation in this case must end." App. 3198.

On April 1, 2011, Petitioner moved the post-conviction relief court to reconsider its ruling denying his motion to reopen the record and attached a series of email communications between counsel for the parties about the document Respondent received from Judge Floyd and which was provided by Respondent to Petitioner and the PCR court in the supplemental response. App. 2304; 3281-83 (emails are in reverse chronological order: the first one is on page 3283). On April 10, 2011, Respondent filed its return to the motion to reconsider. App. 3290. On April 13, 2011, Petitioner filed a reply brief arguing that SLED and counsel for Respondent acted in concert to conceal material in the case. On April 19, 2011, Respondent replied, stating that it "regret[s] that the documents [received from Judge Floyd] were not produced earlier, but it most certainly did not hide the material." Respondent notes that the material attached to its Supplemental Return was received from the trial judge and not SLED. App. 3325. On May 20, 2011, the post-conviction relief court denied Petitioner's motion to reconsider. App. 3331.

On July 22, Petitioner filed a second motion to reopen the record, along with a proffer of the 1996 SLED Jury Sequestration Manual Petitioner indicates he obtained from SLED pursuant to the Freedom of Information Act request, and also moved to recuse the Attorney General's Office on the basis counsel in the Office would become a necessary witnesses. Petitioner also moved for a court order requiring the SLED information officer, Judge Floyd, SLED agents, and counsel for Respondent to present testimony on the issue. App. 3333. On August 4, 2011,

Respondent filed a return. App. 3374. A hearing on the motion was held on August 16, 2011. On September 7, 2011, the PCR court issued the PCR order on appeal and also issued a separate order denying Petitioner's second request to reopen the record. App. 3512. In it, the Court stated that "The documents proffered are guides only and are not binding upon the presiding judge. The specific instructions, process and procedure for the jury sequestration was within the discretion, control and authority of the presiding judge. Applicant fails to show prejudice." App. 3513.

On September 19, 2011, as part of his post-trial motions, Petitioner moved the court to reconsider its order denying his second request to reopen the record. He also moved for a new trial based upon the grounds previously asserted in his motions to reopen the record and motions to reconsider the denial of those motions and indicated Petitioner wanted a new trial to continue asking questions about the Jury Sequestration Manuals and the differences between them. App. 3519. On September 29, 2011 Respondent filed a return responding to the requests contained in the post-trial motions. App. 3535. On October 6, 2011, Petitioner submitted a Reply to Respondent's return on October 6, 2011. App. 3549. On November 17, 2011, the court issued an order denying Petitioner's post-trial motions. In total, seventeen motions, responses, replies and orders were filed on this issue.

Discussion

First, Respondent submits that Petitioner failed to cite any relevant legal authority, and has abandoned this claim. Petitioner alleges legal error⁵. However, Petitioner does not explain what error he is appealing, and does not explain how the authority he relies upon applies to the

⁵ "Because the lower court's findings and conclusions of law are erroneous according to the record in this case, and state and federal law, the Court should grant certiorari to consider all questions presented." (Cert. Pet. p. 45.)

issue of the PCR court's denial of his motions to reopen the record and for a new trial. (Cert Pet. 45). An appellate court will deem conclusory and unsupported claims abandoned. Savannah Bank, N.A. v. Stalliard, 734 S.E.2d 161 (S.C. 2012). An issue is deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal if the argument is raised in a brief but not supported by authority. Holly Woods Ass'n of Residence Owners v. Hiller, 392 S.C. 172, 708 S.E.2d 787 (Ct. App. 2011); Bryson v. Bryson, 662 S.E.2d 611 (S.C. Ct. App. 2008). Specifically, when appellate counsel merely cites the testimony and arguments of trial counsel without adopting the argument, with no analysis as to why the cases relied upon apply, the issue may be considered abandoned. See State v. Hill, 394 S.C. 280, 296-297, 715 S.E.2d 368, 377-378 (Ct. App. 2011); State v. Colf, 332 S.C. 313, 332, 504 S.E.2d 360, 364 (Ct. App. 1998) (affirmed as modified by State v. Colf, 337 S.C. 622, 525 S.E.2d 246 (2000) (holding a conclusory two-paragraph argument citing no authority other than an evidentiary rule was deemed abandoned on appeal); Wright v. Craft, 372 S.C. 1, 20, 640 S.E.2d 486, 497 (Ct.App.2006) (finding an issue listed in the statement of issues on appeal but not addressed in the brief is abandoned).

Petitioner cites extensive trial testimony, but the only legal authorities Petitioner cites are provided without analysis. (Cert Pet. 45.) Petitioner alleges a discovery violation without presenting any rules of discovery. Id. ("In the alternative, this Court should order a new PCR hearing based on the State's discovery violation . . .")⁶. Petitioner does not present the standard of review for analysis. Furthermore, Petitioner merely presents the factual arguments made to the PCR Court below without adopting the argument on appeal. (Cert. Pet. 45). Because Petitioner cited no standard of review, he does not and cannot explain why the facts he presented

⁶ The issue of a discovery violation was never raised to and ruled upon by the PCR Court. Petitioner never moved for discovery sanctions. Petitioner's characterization of Respondent's actions is inaccurate and without support.

should move this Court to reverse the PCR Court's ruling, the issue has not been properly before this Court for consideration on appeal.

A. Petitioner failed to establish error.

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